Supreme Court of Kentucky

2012-SC-000462-DG

SUPREME COUR COURT OF APPEALS CASE NOS. 2010-CA-001907-MR AND 2010-CA-001921-MR

MV TRANSPORTATION. INC.

APPELLANT

JUL 1 6 2013

CLERK

VS.

ON APPEAL AND CROSS-APPEAL FROM JEFFERSON CIRCUIT COURT CIVIL ACTION NO. 07-CI-011559

RICHARD G. ALLGEIER, EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT MV TRANSPORTATION, INC.

Griffin Terry Sumner Jason Renzelmann Frost Brown Todd LLC 400 West Market Street, 32nd Floor Louisville, KY 40202 Telephone: (502) 589-4200

~and~

Gene F. Zipperle, Jr. Ward, Hocker & Thornton, PLLC Hurstbourne Place, Suite 700 9300 Shelbyville Road Louisville, KY 40222 Counsel for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a jury verdict awarding \$4,100,000 in pain and suffering damages, and \$74,630.28 in medical expenses to the Plaintiff, Barbara Allgeier, against the Defendant, MV Transportation, Inc. ("MV"), for injuries sustained from an accident that occurred while she was de-boarding the TARC 3 paratransit bus service outside her home. MV operated the TARC 3 paratransit bus service in Louisville pursuant to a contract with the Transportation Authority of River City ("TARC"). Allgeier, age 65, suffered from multiple sclerosis and relied upon a motorized wheelchair for mobility. She had been using the TARC 3 service for transportation on a daily basis for approximately five years at the time of the accident.

The December 8, 2006 Accident

On December 8, 2006, Ms. Allgeier was riding the TARC 3 bus driven by Wilma Caldwell, returning from a hair styling appointment. Upon arrival at Ms. Allgeier's home, the driver, Ms. Caldwell, walked back into the bus and removed the four-point tiedown restraints that secured Ms. Allgeier's wheelchair to the floor of the bus. Ms. Caldwell then exited the bus to deploy the lift used to board and de-board wheelchair-bound passengers. The door opened and Ms. Allgeier drove her chair onto the lift.

When Ms. Allgeier's chair reached the lift, it hit the "bridge plate" – a metal plate that pivots and covers the gap between the edge of the bus and the edge of the lift.³ The bridge plate was supposed to lie flat over the gap between the bus and the lift, but it had

¹ On August 29, 2012, counsel for Plaintiff filed a Notice of the Death of Barbara Allgeier on August 26, 2012. A motion was subsequently filed to substitute Richard G. Allgeier, Executor of the Estate of Barbara Allgeier, as a party in the place of Ms. Allgeier. For purposes of this brief, "Plaintiff" will refer to both Ms. Allgeier and Richard Allgeier, individually or collectively as appropriate.

² VR No. 151 (Allgeier): 09/10/10; 03:52:12.

³ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 04:06:00.

flipped upright and caught the wheel of Ms. Allgeier's chair. Ms. Allgeier's wheelchair tipped forward onto the lift and Ms. Allgeier was caught by a restraint strap on the lift, leaving Ms. Allgeier suspended above the floor of the lift. Ms. Caldwell testified that at this point, Ms. Allgeier was screaming "my legs, my legs." In order to remove the pressure from Ms. Allgeier's legs, Ms. Caldwell unfastened the wheelchair's safety belt and the lift restraint, and lowered Ms. Allgeier onto the lift. Ms. Caldwell then called her dispatcher to report the accident and to get help for Ms. Allgeier. Both of Ms. Allgeier's femurs were broken as a result of the accident. Ms. Allgeier later testified she did not remember exactly how she fell or how her legs were injured.

Ronald Coleman, Ms. Caldwell's field supervisor, and Leonard Rowe, MV's Director of Safety, arrived on the scene between 5:15 and 5:20 p.m.⁸ When they arrived, Mr. Coleman called dispatch to confirm that an ambulance was on its way.⁹

Louisville Metro EMS arrived on the scene at 5:43 p.m. The responding EMS technicians, Sgt. Richard Warren and Thomas Johnson, received the call from EMS dispatch at 5:23, but testified they were delayed in arriving due to dense holiday rush hour traffic surrounding the area. Sgt. Warren did not question Ms. Caldwell's decision to release Ms. Allgeier from her chair, and testified that he did not believe anything Ms.

⁴ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 04:08:25; and 03:58:23.

⁵ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 04:08:48.

⁶ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 04:09:37.

⁷ VR No. 151 (Allgeier): 09/10/10; 04:36:32; 04:38:00.

⁸ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 10:41:03.

⁹ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 10:44:00-18.

¹⁰ Trial Exhibit 48, Ambulance Run Report (Appx. 9 to Appellants Br.); VR No. 151 (Warren): 09/10/10; 02:37:34. Neither Sgt. Warren nor Mr. Johnson knew when E.M.S. received the call or were familiar with current E.M.S. dispatch protocols about how quickly dispatch calls are made after received. VR No. 151 (Johnson): 09/10/10; 03:01:00-04; 03:15:01-10; and VR No. 151 (Warren): 09/10/10; 02:40:45-47. Sgt. Warren testified that Ms. Allgeier's health was not threatened any more than if E.M.S. were to have arrived 10, 15, or 20 minutes earlier. VR No. 151 (Warren): 09/10/10; 03:01:23-36.

Caldwell did after the chair tipped worsened Ms. Allgeier's condition in any way. 11

Initiation of the litigation and Plaintiff's claims

Ms. Allgeier filed this suit seeking compensatory and punitive damages against MV.¹² She did not name Ms. Caldwell as a defendant. Her Complaint asserted that MV was liable for Ms. Caldwell's negligence based on *respondeat superior* liability.¹³ The Complaint also alleged MV was liable for negligent hiring, training, supervision, retention and entrustment of Ms. Caldwell.¹⁴ Ms. Allgeier's negligent hiring claim was premised, in large part, on the fact that Ms. Caldwell was a recovering alcoholic when she was hired and had previously received treatment for anxiety and depression.

MV moved for summary judgment on Plaintiff's negligent hiring and other imputed liability claims. MV's motion cited the majority rule that once *respondeat superior* liability for an employee's actions is admitted, other theories of imputed liability, like negligent hiring, should be dismissed. This rule recognizes that proof of negligent hiring is unnecessary once vicarious liability is established, and can only serve as a conduit for prejudicial evidence about the employee's past conduct and character. MV alternatively filed a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of alcoholism and treatment for depression and anxiety as irrelevant and prejudicial, since there was no evidence linking these factors to the accident. Both motions were denied. 17

MV also moved, after discovery, for summary judgment on the punitive damages claim on the grounds that the conduct alleged did not rise to gross negligence and that

¹¹ VR No. 151 (Warren): 09/10/10; 02:59:54-03:00:19; 03:00:39-44.

¹² R. 1-4, Complaint.

¹³ R. 1-4, Complaint ¶ 6.

¹⁴ R. 1-4, Complaint ¶ 8.

¹⁵ R.A. 349-369, Mot. for Partial Sum. Judgmt., 12/10/09.

¹⁶ R.A. 856-861, MV's Mot. in Lim., 8/19/10.

¹⁷ R.A. 830, Order, 8/30/10 (attached as Appendix G) and R.A. 856-861, MV's Mot. in Lim., 8/19/10.

MV did not ratify Ms. Caldwell's conduct. 18 The circuit court granted the motion. 19 Prior to trial, Plaintiff moved to reconsider that ruling, but the court declined.²⁰

Improper focus on Ms. Caldwell's treatment for alcoholism and depression and anxiety

The case was tried to a jury. As MV predicted, throughout the trial, Plaintiff's counsel repeatedly emphasized Ms. Caldwell's status as a recovering alcoholic and her prior treatment for depression and anxiety. During opening argument, counsel detailed Ms. Caldwell's treatment in 2006 for alcohol addiction, and that she was living in the "Healing Place" - an alcohol rehabilitation facility - when she was hired. In the same breath, Plaintiff's counsel admitted that "there's no evidence that Miss Caldwell was intoxicated when she was operating the bus on December 8," yet claimed "the evidence will be that these are important issues as to her overall competence."21

Plaintiff's opening statement also discussed Ms. Caldwell's prior treatment for depression and anxiety, although no evidence linked these issues to the accident.²² Counsel speculated that MV was perhaps forced to employ lax hiring standards because of problems with employee turnover caused by poor benefits and wages.²³

Keeping to the theme, Plaintiff's examination of Ms. Caldwell focused extensively on her prior alcohol use and her treatment for depression and anxiety. Ms. Caldwell acknowledged she was in recovery from alcoholism and living at the Healing Place when she was hired by MV.²⁴ She also admitted she had previously received

¹⁹ R.A. 830, Order, 8/30/10.

¹⁸ R.A. 349-369, Mot. for Partial Sum. Judgmt., 12/10/09.

²⁰ R.A. 1242-75, Motion to Reconsider, 9/01/10; R.A. 2400, Order, 9/16/10.

²¹ VR No. 150 (Pl. Opening Stmt.): 09/09/10; 11:09:08 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 4). ²² VR No. 150 (Pl. Opening Stmt.): 09/09/10; 11:06:41-11:07:09 (Transcribed excerpts at APX I, EA 3).

²³ VR No. 150 (Pl. Opening Stmt.): 09/09/10; 11:10:01 ("A lot of paratransit companies provide health insurance to their employees. They provide retirement benefits. This company provided none.... And I think she was paid about \$10 an hour to operate this bus.") (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 5). ²⁴ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 05:11:50 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 12).

counseling for depression and anxiety.²⁵ But she testified – without refutation – that she was not drinking or experiencing depression or anxiety on the day of the incident.²⁶ Indeed, Ms. Caldwell testified that she had been sober since October 2005, over a year before the accident.²⁷ She was tested for alcohol and drugs after the accident, and tested negative for both, registering a "0.000" blood alcohol level.²⁸

Plaintiffs' counsel continued to vigorously pursue the subject of Ms. Caldwell's alcohol history in his examination of numerous other witnesses, including Mr. Coleman, Mr. Rowe, Mr. Rowe, and Billy Grice, MV's Safety Manager. Mr. Coleman admitted he was aware of Ms. Caldwell's past issues with alcohol use, but did not believe that disqualified her from employment. Mr. Coleman testified he had no knowledge of Ms. Caldwell ever drinking, using drugs, or experiencing depression or anxiety while working at MV. Despite the absence of any alcohol-related problems by Ms. Caldwell while employed at MV, Plaintiff's counsel nonetheless asked Mr. Rowe whether MV would be "concerned that someone who's still in rehab might have a relapse...?"

In closing arguments, Plaintiff once more drove home the theme that Ms. Caldwell's past alcoholism and depression made her unfit to be hired:

Miss Caldwell has an illness. It's not her fault. Alcoholism. Many of us have members in our family that suffer from this. It's not a character flaw. It's an illness. You get an infection, you get treatment. But she had an

²⁵ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 04:50:15-04:53:38 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 8). ²⁶ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 05:12:25-40 and 05:31:34-56 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 13)

VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 05:11:56-05:12:01 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 12).
 Trial Ex. 56, Forensic Alcohol Testing Rep. (Attached as APX H); VR No. 152 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 03:36:00-28.

²⁹ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 10:18:58-10:21:01.

³⁰ VR No. 152 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 10:14:34-10:24:18.

³¹ VR No. 153 (Grice): 09/14/10; 02:50:16-02:58:37.

³² VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 10:20:31-55.

³³ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 12:04:51-56 - 12:05:02 (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA

³⁴ VR No. 152 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 10:28:24-36.

illness. She was getting treated. Good for her. She had a psychiatric condition. It's an illness. It's not something that she went out and caused to happen. She was getting treatment for it. Good for her. But people who have those types of conditions should not be taking care of children in a day care. They shouldn't be air traffic controllers. They shouldn't be driving paratransit buses. 35

The evidence offered at trial about Ms. Caldwell's actual qualifications and fitness showed that she was qualified and competent to perform her job. Ms. Caldwell was previously trained and employed as a paratransit operator from 1998 to 2000, and then as a technician at Seven Counties for 4 years.³⁶ After being hired by MV, she received extensive training, including 68 hours of classroom instruction, behind the wheel training, and wheelchair lift instruction.³⁷ Ms. Caldwell's supervisors testified that she had experienced no prior accidents or problems during her employment at MV before Ms. Allgeier's accident.³⁸ Although Plaintiff challenged the adequacy of MV's investigation of Ms. Caldwell's driving records and past employers, Plaintiff did not identify any prior incidents in Ms. Caldwell's driving records or employment history.³⁹

Improper focus on MV's post-accident investigation

Another significant aspect of Plaintiff's trial strategy involved criticizing MV's post-accident investigation efforts in this case. Plaintiff's counsel challenged Mr. Coleman about the fact that he took 36 pictures after he arrived on the scene, but did not

³⁵ VR No. 153 (Pl. Closing Argmt.): 09/15/10; 06:12:37-51 (emphasis added) (Transcribed excerpts attached at APX I, EA 23-24).

³⁶ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 03:25:46-03:26:43. Between her employment at Seven Counties and her hiring at MV, Ms. Caldwell worked for R.H.A. Healthcare in North Carolina. *Id.*

³⁷ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 03:38:57-03:41:38; Trial Exhibit 11.

³⁸ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 12:05:03-29; see also VR No. 152 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 03:36:00-08.

³⁹ VR No.152 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 10:11:58-10:14:34. Mr. Grice, MV's Safety Manager, was also asked about the information on Ms. Caldwell's Medical Examination Form concerning alcohol use and history of depression, to which he responded those issues were handled by medical personnel as part of the employee physical, which includes a drug and alcohol screening, and MV relied on the examining physicians' fitness determination. VR No. 153 (Grice): 09/14/10; 02:50:42-02:53:02; 02:57:07-50.

speak with Ms. Allgeier or other witnesses at the scene.⁴⁰ Plaintiff also introduced MV training materials and testimony about the fact that employees were trained not to admit fault following an accident or to interview witnesses other than the driver.⁴¹

Plaintiff made much of the fact that Ms. Caldwell was subjected to drug and alcohol testing two hours and thirty-two minutes after the incident, whereas Plaintiff asserted, inaccurately, that federal regulations required the test to be completed within two hours of an accident. However, Plaintiff did not offer any evidence that the additional 32 minute delay rendered Ms. Caldwell's "0.00" breathalyzer result unreliable. To the contrary, through closing arguments, Plaintiff consistently acknowledged there was no evidence Ms. Caldwell was drinking, but nonetheless argued the delay should be considered as evidence of MV's inadequate investigation of the accident:

I told you when this case began that there is no evidence that Miss Caldwell was – had been drinking. And there is no evidence. But this is – they took her and had her blood drawn, tested for narcotics, but they didn't use the blood to test her alcohol. They did a breathalyzer test, and you have a two hour maximum window to take these under the Department of Transportation rules. Mr. Rowe testified to that. And they took it two and a half hours later. Another example of investigating this, and I don't know why they waited two and a half hours, but you can draw inferences from that.

Evidence concerning alleged cause of the accident

Plaintiff argued at trial that the cause of the accident itself was Ms. Caldwell's failure to follow MV policies for unloading wheelchair passengers. Plaintiff asserted that Ms. Caldwell violated safety policies by releasing Ms. Allgeier's wheelchair from the

⁴⁰ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 10:46:24-10:49:47; 10:54:10-10:57:00.

⁴¹ RA. 687, Trainee Manual-Module D, p. 8; VR No. 153 (Grice): 09/14/10; 03:53:54-03:56:38; VR No. 151 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 12:14:22-12:14:32; VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10;10:51:50-10:51:56, 11:32:35-11:32: 58.

⁴² See pp 17-18, infra.

⁴³ VR No. 151 (Rowe): 09/13/10; 04:05:56-04:06:06; VR No. 153 (Pl. Closing Argmt.): 09/15/10: 06:17:58-06:18:32.

⁴⁴ VR No. 153 (Pl. Closing Argmt.): 09/15/10; 06:17:54-06:18:32 (Transcribed excerpt at APX I, EA 27).

four-point safety restraints that kept it tied to the bus floor before the lift was fully deployed. Plaintiff relied on the MV training manual's description of the unloading sequence, which lists deployment of the lift sequentially before unfastening the four-point tie-downs.⁴⁵ Plaintiff argued that the fact that drivers sometimes departed from this sequence showed MV's training efforts to be inadequate.⁴⁶ However, it is undisputed that MV had not experienced any lift-related incidents prior to Ms. Allgeier's accident.⁴⁷

Plaintiff also contended that pictures of the lift taken after the accident suggested Ms. Caldwell may have begun lowering the lift prematurely, before Ms. Allgeier moved her wheelchair onto it, causing the bridge-plate to flip up. However, Ms. Caldwell denied she had begun to lower the lift prematurely.⁴⁸

At the conclusion of all the evidence, Plaintiff moved the circuit court to reconsider the dismissal of punitive damages, but the circuit court declined.⁴⁹ MV moved for directed verdict on Plaintiff's negligent hiring claims, because these claims were irrelevant in light of MV's admission of *respondeat superior* liability and no evidence linked the accident to alcohol use or mental health issues. That motion also was denied.⁵⁰

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Ms. Allgeier for \$4,100,000 for pain and

⁴⁵ Trial Exhibit 9, MV Prof'l Driver Trainee's Manual at C-24 (Appx. 11 to Appellants' Br.). Plaintiff relied on the MV Trainee's Manual, which uses the mnemonic acronym "UNLOAD" to detail the process for unloading wheelchair passengers. This acronym lists the steps "Uncover the lift" and "Unfold the lift" – under the "U" in UNLOAD – before "Kneel down to undo the tie-downs, do not bend at the waist," which falls under the "N" in UNLOAD (for "kNeel" to untie the restraints).

⁴⁶ VR No. 153: 09/14/10; 03:07:28-03:21:03; 03:25:57-03:27:20.

⁴⁷ VR No. 151 (Coleman): 09/10/10; 12:08:06. Plaintiff did introduce evidence concerning an incident that occurred five months after Ms. Allgeier's accident, on May 14, 2007. The May 2007 incident resulted when the lift's control button on another paratransit bus stuck, causing the lift to lower and the passenger to drive onto an uneven platform, although the passenger was not injured. The incident report stated MV is "instructing our operators to keep their passengers secured until they are ready to assist in deploying." See Trial Exhibit 51, May 14, 2007 Incident Report (Appx. 15 to Appellants' Br.). MV moved to exclude evidence of this incident as a subsequent remedial measure, but that motion was denied. See MV Supplemental Mot. in Limine, 9/1/10 (Appendix C to MV Cross-Appellant Br.).

⁴⁸ VR No. 150 (Caldwell): 09/09/10; 03:48:00-03:49:11, 04:05:34-04:06:14.

⁴⁹ VR No. 153 (DV Arg.): 09/15/10; 11:40:36-11:45:06; 01:37:04-13.

⁵⁰ VR No. 153 (DV Arg.): 09/15/10; 11:46:14-11:48:06; 12:01:32-38.

suffering damages, and \$74,630.28 in medical expenses.⁵¹ MV moved for a new trial on the grounds that the pain and suffering award, totaling more than 55 times Ms. Allgeier's total claimed medical expenses (many unrelated to the accident), was excessive and a result of passion and prejudice. The Court denied the motion.⁵²

Ms. Allgeier appealed the Court's grant of summary judgment on her punitive damages claim. MV filed a cross-appeal arguing, among other things, that the negligent hiring claims should have been dismissed based on its admission of *respondeat superior* liability and that, alternatively, even if Plaintiff could maintain her secondary liability claims after admission of *respondeat superior*, such claims could not be premised on Ms. Caldwell's past alcoholism or mental health treatment in the absence of any evidence that these factors were causally related to the accident.

The Court of Appeals Proceedings

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