COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY SUPREME COURT No. 2012-SC-000462

SEP 1 3 2013

FILED

CLERK SUPREME COURT

ON REVIEW FROM KENTUCKY COURT OF APPEALS CASE NOS. 2010-CA-001907-MR & 2010-CA-001921-MR

MV TRANSPORTATION, INC.

APPELLANT

v.

APPEAL FROM JEFFERSON CIRCUIT COURT ACTION No. 07-CI-11559

RICHARD G. ALLGEIER, **EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF BARBARA ALLGEIER**

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE ESTATE OF BARBARA ALLGEIER

B. Todd Thompson Millicent A. Tanner Chad O. Propst Thompson Miller & Simpson PLC 734 W. Main Street, Suite 400 Louisville, Kentucky 40202 (502) 585-9900

~ and ~

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

In Lewis v. Baker, the court affirmed the trial court's admission of "an admittedly untruthful statement regarding [the plaintiff's] psychiatric disorder." 526 F.2d 470, 475 (2nd Cir. 1975). The plaintiff had "certified his negative answers to those questions to be true at the time he completed the form." He "admitted at trial that the negative answers were not truthful in view of his confinement to a psychiatric hospital and treatment less than five years prior . . . " Id. Admission of the evidence was particularly relevant because the plaintiff's "capacity for truth-telling" was a material issue for the jury's consideration. Id. In Zeigler v. Alabama Dept. of Human Res., the court allowed cross-examination concerning the plaintiff's "false statements on his employment application . . . which he certified to be true;" moreover, the evidence's probative value did not substantially outweigh any perceived prejudicial effect because the plaintiff's "truthfulness will play a material role in the case." 2010 WL 2490018, at *2 (M.D. Ala. June 16, 2010). 197 In Andrews v. Seales, similar cross-examination was allowed

¹⁹⁶ See also United States v. Howard, 774 F.2d 838, 845 (7th Cir. 1985); United States v. Zandi, 769 F.2d 229, 236-37 (4th Cir. 1985); United States v. Jones, 900 F.2d 512, 520-21 (2nd Cir. 1990); United States v. Reddit, 381 F.3d 597, 601-02 (7th Cir. 2004); United States v. Jackson, 876 F. Supp. 1188, 1197-98 (D. Kan. 1994); United States v. Burris, 959 F.2d 242 (9th Cir. 1992); United States v. Kozlovski, 2011 WL 4916915, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 14, 2011).

¹⁹⁷ Lewis is attached at Appendix 28; Zeigler is attached at Appendix 29.

because it was "highly probative" of plaintiff's "truthfulness" and the "resolution of this case will turn largely on Andrews' credibility" 881 F. Supp. 2d 671, 674 (E.D. Penn. 2012). 198

This Court will only reverse a trial court's decision to admit evidence "if that decision represents an abuse of discretion." The Court has "to find that the decision was arbitrary, unreasonable, unfair, or unsupported by sound legal principles." Clark v. Com., 223 S.W.3d 90, 95 (Ky. 2007). The complaining party must prove that the "decision was against the logic of the circumstances and so arbitrary and unreasonable as to shock one's sense of justice." 5 Am. Jur. 2d Appellate Review § 623 (2013).

Here, no abuse of discretion occurred. A material issue of fact existed regarding causation that could not be reconciled unless the jury decided which of two eyewitnesses to the incident was telling the truth—Barbara or Caldwell. Credibility of those two eyewitnesses was a critical factor at trial, as MV readily conceded and played upon. *Just four months before the incident*, Caldwell certified that the contents of her employment application were true. At trial, she admitted that she had lied on her application, which she filled out. Importantly, she also lied about the cause of the incident during her deposition and *again at trial*. Her credibility was a *key* issue. Sources cited *supra* sections I.B-D & F. Evidence of her alcoholism and mental health history was admissible to attack her credibility under KRE 608(b) and would have been admitted regardless of any substantive claims made by Barbara against MV.

2. MV waived its appellate argument concerning introduction of Caldwell's credibility evidence for substantive purposes because it failed to request a limiting instruction at trial regarding the scope of the evidence's admissibility. No palpable error occurred, even if such evidence was relied upon substantively.

Under KRE 105(a),

When evidence which is admissible as to one (1) party for one (1) purpose

¹⁹⁸ The application itself was admissible and did not interfere with Rule 608's extrinsic evidence exception, since Caldwell conceded the facts she was questioned about and admitted filling out the application. *Zandi*, 769 F.2d at 236.

but not admissible as to another party or for another purpose is admitted, the court, upon request, shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and admonish the jury accordingly. In the absence of such a request, the admission of the evidence by the trial judge without limitation shall not be a ground for complaint on appeal, except under the palpable error rule.

MV never requested a limiting instruction after the trial court denied MV's motion in limine and allowed introduction of the evidence at issue to attack Caldwell's credibility. See sources cited supra section I.F. Therefore, to the extent MV complains that such evidence was used substantively, its allegations of error are reviewed by this Court for palpable error. Under this extremely high standard, the Court must find "manifest injustice," in order to reverse a decision below. Stacy v. Com., 396 S.W.3d 787, 791 (Ky. 2013); Martin v. Com., 207 S.W.3d 1, 4 (Ky. 2006). There must be a "substantial possibility" that the result in the case would have been different without the error." Brewer v. Com., 206 S.W.3d 343, 349 (Ky. 2006). Palpable error "involve[s] prejudice more egregious than that occurring in reversible error[.]" Ernst v. Com., 160 S.W.3d 744, 758 (Ky. 2005). Reversal can occur only "if the error so seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the proceeding as to be 'shocking or jurisprudentially intolerable." Martin, 207 S.W.3d at 4.

Requesting a limiting instruction for mixed admissibility evidence is the *mandatory* requirement at the trial court level because "an admonition is usually sufficient" to cure a perceived erroneous admission of evidence, "and there is a presumption that the jury will heed such an admonition." *Matthews v. Com.*, 163 S.W.3d 11, 17 (Ky. 2005). "The 'upon request' qualification of the rule" codifies the principle that "[t]he admission of mixed admissibility evidence without an accompanying admonition *cannot be questioned on appeal by a party who failed to request an admonition at trial.*" *Barth v. Com.*, 80 S.W.3d 390, 396 (Ky. 2001). "The opponent of the evidence must ask for that instruction. Otherwise, he may be supposed to

 $^{^{199}}$ Barth is attached at Appendix 30. See Lawson, supra § 1.05[4], at 25-26.

have waived it as unnecessary for his protection." Id.; see also Hyman & Anderson, P.S.C. v. Gunderson, 279 S.W.3d 93, 120 (Ky. 2008); St. Clair v. Com., 140 S.W.3d 510, 559 (Ky. 2004); West v. Tyson Foods, 374 Fed. Appx. 624, 637 (6th Cir. 2010). 200

Also, for good reason, a trial court has no duty to sua sponte provide an unrequested limiting instruction, and "the failure to give an unrequested limiting admonition is not palpable error." Ernst, 160 S.W.3d at 759; see also Drane v. Com., 2010 WL 3377756, at *8 (Ky. Aug. 26, 2010). 201 There are "occasions when, for tactical reasons, defense counsel may wish to forego such a limiting instruction because it might focus the jury's attention on the damaging evidence." Barth, 80 S.W.3d at 396; see also Hall v. Com., 817 S.W.2d 228, 229 (Ky. 1991). "Thus, Kentucky precedent leaves that important judgment call squarely within the trial counsel's sound discretion by recognizing the concept of waiver." Quisenberry v. Com., 336 S.W.3d 19, 29 (Ky. 2011) (emphasis added).²⁰²

In Ouisenberry, this Court determined that a criminal co-defendant had waived his Confrontation Clause argument regarding a statement played at trial of a nontestifying witness because he did not request a limiting instruction. This Court reasoned that—even when a constitutional right was at issue—"the error was not preserved and [the co-defendant] cannot establish that it was palpable error." Id. at 28-29; see also Fields v. Com., 2011 WL 3793149, at *8 (Ky. Aug. 25, 2011) (same). 203 Also, in May v. Com., this Court determined that a defendant had waived his request for a limiting instruction regarding impeachment evidence because the defendant's counsel "did not renew his objection" at or near in time to the questioning at issue. "If the defendant fails to request an admonition, the evidence is reviewed on appeal for palpable

²⁰⁰ West is attached at Appendix 31.

²⁰¹ Drane is attached at Appendix 32, in accord with CR 76.28(4). Drane became final on September 16, 2010.

Quisenberry is attached at Appendix 33.

Fields is attached at Appendix 34, in accord with CR 76.28(4). Fields became final on September 15, 2011.

error." 2011 WL 5316761, at *8 (Ky. Oct. 27, 2011). 204

Moreover, MV's pretrial motion in limine was *not sufficient* to preserve the error it complains of because, again, it failed to request a limiting instruction on the scope of admissibility of the Caldwell credibility evidence. *See Lanham v. Com.*, 171 S.W.3d 14, 28-29 (Ky. 2005). In *Lanham*, this Court held that under KRE 103(d), a motion in limine will preserve an alleged error on appeal if it precisely specifies the evidence sought to be excluded and the reason why, "is not a broad, generic objection" concerning a "class of evidence," and is "resolved by order of record." *Id.* at 22-23. Significantly, however, the Court also qualified that a party's failure to request a KRE 105 limiting instruction waives the alleged error for appeal, even if the motion in limine met the requirements of KRE 103(d):

We have previously held that where an admonishment is sufficient to cure an error and the defendant fails to ask for the admonishment, we will not review the error. This may appear to contradict our interpretation of KRE 103(d) above, ... but it conforms to the limitations on the rule that we have expressed. By failing to ask for an admonition, even after the trial court returned a ruling that Appellant thought was in error, Appellant's "objection" was incomplete. As such, an admonition was "not strictly within the scope of the objection as made...[and was not] fairly brought to the attention of the trial court...." Basically, even our relaxed reading of KRE 103(d) . . . requires that a defendant still has to ask for a remedy in order to get the remedy. Id. at 28-29 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, if MV felt that the Caldwell credibility evidence was being introduced for substantive purposes—i.e., felt that the trial court's pretrial ruling was being violated—then it had a duty to contemporaneously object and bring the issue to the trial court. It never did, which, again, waives MV's alleged error. "[A] party obviously may not obtain a successful pretrial [motion in limine] ruling, acquiesce to the breach of the ruling at trial by failing to object to the violation, and then blithely claim preservation based upon the pretrial ruling. KRE 103(d) does not excuse a party from its duty to contemporaneously bring errors to the trial court's attention

²⁰⁵ Lanham is attached at Appendix 36.

²⁰⁴ May is attached at Appendix 35, in accord with CR 76.28(4). May became final on January 27, 2012.

in the event the pretrial ruling is violated." Long v. Com., 2011 WL 6826377, at *3 n.3 (Ky. Dec. 22, 2011).²⁰⁶

Here, the trial court correctly denied MV's pretrial motion in limine regarding the Caldwell credibility evidence and allowed introduction of the evidence to attack Caldwell's credibility. As part of its trial strategy, MV never requested a limiting instruction from the trial court on the scope of admissibility of the evidence it now complains about. If MV had requested one, the jury would have been instructed that the evidence at issue was only for consideration regarding Caldwell's credibility and not for substantive consideration; the lion's share of MV's appellate complaint would have been resolved. See Matthews, 163 S.W.3d at 17 (presumption is jury will heed admonition). But MV chose not to do that. Moreover, MV never objected during Barbara's opening statement or closing argument. MV contemporaneously objected to any witness testimony regarding Caldwell's credibility evidence. MV never moved to redact any of the deposition testimony played. On the same day Barbara served her exhibit list, MV's exhibit list identified the employment application Caldwell falsified and "[d]rug/alcohol screen documentation for Wilma Caldwell," indicating MV's intent to use the evidence for its benefit. Sources cited supra section I.F. 207

MV never preserved the evidentiary issue it is now using as its primary appellate complaint. The "admission of mixed admissibility evidence without an accompanying admonition cannot be questioned on appeal by a party who failed to request an admonition at trial." E.g., Barth, 80 S.W.3d at 396. MV was required under KRE 105 to "ask for that instruction." By failing to do so, it must be presumed that MV "waived it as unnecessary for [its] protection." See id. No palpable error occurred.

²⁰⁶ Long is attached at **Appendix 37**, in accord with CR 76.28(4). Long became final on January 12, 2012. ²⁰⁷ See also R. at 750-52, Defs' Ex. List, Aug. 10, 2010, attached at **Appendix 38**.

3. Minimal trial time was consumed discussing the evidence MV complains of, and its effect was, at most, harmless error, given the **overwhelming liability** evidence presented against MV at trial.

A "litigant has a right to a fair trial but not a right to a perfect trial." Lawson, supra § 1.10[7][b], at 49. The "harmless error standard requires 'that if upon a consideration of the whole case this court does not believe there is a substantial possibility that the result would have been any different, the irregularity will be held nonprejudicial." Brewer, 206 S.W.3d at 324. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the jury could have inferred a causal connection between Caldwell's alcoholism and Barbara's fall on December 8, 2006. Allgeier, 2012 WL 1649089, at **6, 11 (Ky. App. May 11, 2012). Also, MV never moved for summary judgment on factual grounds regarding Barbara's negligent hiring claim; it relied solely on its single, flawed legal argument regarding "respondeat superior liability" and out-of-state law from a minority of jurisdictions, which was appropriately rejected. Notably, the case law MV is presenting to this Court concerning negligent hiring and proximate causation was never presented to the trial court. MV never handed the trial court a single case on that, so there was no basis for the trial court to grant summary judgment or to direct a verdict on factual or causation grounds. "An appellate court 'is without authority to review issues not raised in or decided by the trial court." Ten Broeck Dupont, Inc v. Brooks, 283 S.W.3d 705, 734 (Ky. 2009).

At a minimum, at trial, the jury heard Rowe testify during MV's own questioning that on the day of the incident, "federal regulations" required that Caldwell be tested for alcohol within two hours of the incident, yet MV delayed the testing.²⁰⁸ In addition, MV's own policy specified that all wheelchair accidents were to be treated "the same as vehicle accidents," which required alcohol testing within that same two-hour window. Moreover, Kentucky statutory law and other

²⁰⁸ MV cannot credibly argue that Barbara introduced "legally incorrect" evidence to the jury because MV introduced that testimony during its own questioning of Rowe and never corrected it, inviting its own error, if any, which is not reviewable on appeal. See Wright v. Jackson, 329 S.W.2d 560, 562 (Ky. 1959) ("[A] party is estopped to take advantage of an invited error."); Louisville Taxicab & Transfer Co. v. Crane, 262 S.W.2d 188, 189 (Ky. 1953) ("A party may not invite an error and then take advantage of it."); Miles v. Southeastern Mtr. Truck Lines, 173 S.W.2d 990, 998 (Ky. 1943).

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